IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-TS-00218

TUPELO REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY

APPELLANT

VS.

THE GRAY CORPORATION, INC.

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record for Appellant, Tupelo Redevelopment Agency, certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1. Tupelo Redevelopment Agency, Appellant
2. Ronald J. Ragland, Sr. d/b/a/ Ragland Engineering
- and Ragland Construction, Plaintiff in underlying action

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the Tupelo Redevelopment Agency waived enforcement of its contractual rights.
2. Whether statutory and common law safeguards pertaining to public construction contracts limit liability of the Tupelo Redevelopment Agency.
3. Whether The Gray Corporation, Inc., was entitled to maintain a claim for extra-contractual damages.
4. Whether The Gray Corporation, Inc., can maintain a claim for indemnification based upon non-contractual implied indemnity.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings and Disposition In the Court Below

This case involves disputes pertaining to construction of the Tupelo Fairgrounds Redevelopment Project (hereinafter "Project"). This suit originated with a Complaint brought by sub-contractor W. G. Construction, Inc., against prime contractor The Gray Corporation, Inc., (hereinafter "Gray") and the Hartford Fire and Insurance Company (hereinafter "Hartford") as the surety on the bond for the project. [R. 10 – 19; RE 6]. Subsequently, Ronald J. Ragland, Sr., d/b/a Ragland Engineering and Ragland Construction (hereinafter "Ragland") intervened as a party Plaintiff against Gray and Hartford for work performed on the project by Ragland which allegedly went unpaid by Gray.¹ [R. 42 – 47]. Thereafter, Gray filed a Third-Party Complaint against The Tupelo Redevelopment Agency (hereinafter "TRA") alleging that TRA was liable to indemnify Gray for Ragland's claim and that TRA was liable to Gray for an equitable adjustment of the contract balance. [R. 120 – 166].

On July 26, 2005, trial began and was concluded on August 5, 2006 with the jury rendering a verdict that Gray and Hartford were liable to Ragland in the amount of \$850,551.32. [T. 1305; RE 16]². Further, the jury returned a verdict that Gray was entitled to recover on its claims against TRA in the amount of \$258,118.00. [T. 1306; RE 16]. An amended final judgment was entered to reflect the jury's verdict on January 12, 2006. [R. 1563 – 1565; RE 2]. TRA timely filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court on February 1, 2006.

¹ Ragland was the lone Plaintiff at the time of trial as W. G. Construction, Inc., dismissed with prejudice its claims against Gray and Hartford. [R. 192 – 194].

² Of the \$850,551.32, the jury assigned \$231,378.00 as reflective of Ragland's claim for engineering services and \$123,016.12 as reflective of Ragland's contract balance. [T. 1305; RE 16].

II. Statement Of Facts

On or about October 20, 2000, TRA entered into a general contract with Gray for the construction of the Tupelo Fairgrounds Redevelopment Project ("Project"). The original contract price was \$1,725,347.08. [R. 132]. The Project consisted of three components: Component A, Water and Sewer Improvements; Component B, Site Work; and Component C, Electrical, CATV Telephone and Duct System. [Exhibit P-1]. The engineering firm of Alan & Hoshal provided the electrical plans and specifications to TRA for Component C of the project. [T. 889]. TRA retained Jesco Construction to serve as construction management for the project with Jesco employee Steve Brister being the primary construction manager. [T. 944, 945]. The scope of Mr. Brister's function as project manager was to "manage the project, to be the owner's liaison, eyes and ears on the project on a day-to-day basis." [T. 945, 946].

After receiving the contract award, Gray purportedly subcontracted with Ragland to perform the electrical work for Component C of the project.³ [T. 505].

By agreeing to perform electrical work on Component C of the project as subcontractor to Gray, Ragland only received the plans and specifications for Component C of the project from Gray. [T. 152]. Further, Ragland testified he believed that he was going to have a "green field" on which to perform his work.⁴ [T. 450]. Also, Ragland testified that he relied upon Gray to provide him with a "green field" and that he did not feel obligated to check on the existence of other underground utilities. [T. 450].

³ A subcontract agreement was drawn up by Gray for Ragland's performance of the electrical work on Component C of the project. [T. 549; Exhibit DG-7C]. However, the subcontract form was never signed by Ragland which led Ragland to advance a theory of quantum meruit as a claim for recovery at the trial of this matter.

⁴ In the industry, a green field indicates a clean, open space having no impediments or underground lines to work around or consider when doing work. [T. 910, 911].

On or about February 15, 2001, Ragland presented a narrative to Brister purporting to explain the reason for the need of a Change Order to the Project.⁵ [T. 192]. In fact, Change Order No. 1 to the Project was issued and secured by Gray on behalf of its subcontractor Ragland on March 2, 2001. [T. 316; Exhibit P-6]. Change Order No. 1 increased Ragland's subcontract by approximately \$100,000. [T. 341; Exhibit P-6].

It is undisputed that Ragland had no contractual relationship with TRA for the project and that Ragland's relationship was solely with Gray Corporation. [T.427]. Accordingly, TRA had no contractual obligations to communicate with Ragland regarding changes to his scope of work for the project.

In addition to Change Order No. 1, Gray requested and received two more Change Orders which were issued by TRA for Gray, following the procedural mechanisms of its contract with TRA. [R. 828-833; Exhibits P-7, P-8]. The three Change Orders resulted in \$283,209.20 being added to the original contract sum. [T. 316, 589, 595].

During the life of the Project, project manager Brister would routinely hold Project meetings which would be the perfect opportunity for Gray or its representatives to notify TRA of any needed changes to the Project. [T. 950, 951]. However, following Change Order No. 1 which addressed problems associated with Component C electrical work for the Project, there were no written claims by either Gray or Ragland during the life of the Project delineating the alleged extra work encountered by problems with Component C. It was not until March 1, 2002 when Gray, through its attorney, drafted a demand letter for itself and on behalf of its subcontractor Ragland making such statements as the "electrical plans and specifications for Component C were utterly defective and unusable"; "Gray and Ragland were forced to perform

⁵ A Change Order is a change in the scope of the work from the original contract terms and entails provisions for how to handle procedure and compensation for the change. [T. 956, 957]. The contract between TRA and Gray addressed Change Orders for the Project. [R. 657; RE 13; Exhibit P-1].

design work for which they were not paid"; "the owner refused to pay Gray and Ragland for their extra work, delays and lost time"; and "without a time extension for the extensive electrical delays, Gray and Ragland had no choice but to accelerate the work in an attempt to meet the original schedule." [R. 139-145; RE 8; Exhibit P-19]. The basis for Ragland continuing with performing alleged extra work outside of that originally contemplated was Gray's alleged representation to Ragland that "we had a Change Order to take care of everything." [T. 226]. Even though Ragland claims to have been relying upon a Change Order to cover extra work, he admitted in his testimony that during the life of the Project he did not keep an itemized account of man hours that he claims to be extra work for the Project. [T. 431].

During the course of the Project, Ragland encountered numerous problems which changed the nature and extent of his work due to the actions of Gray. First, Gray left several feet of dirt higher than what was supposed to be left which required Ragland to dig deeper than he was originally required. [T. 204]. Next, Ragland testified that the sub-grade work performed by Gray was improperly done, as it was supposed to be firm, but instead, Ragland encountered muddy conditions which made his work more difficult. [T. 204]. Ragland testified that Gray failed in its contractual responsibilities to insure that the finished product of the dirt was maintained to a certain moisture content, thereby making Ragland's work more difficult.

[T. 205]. Ragland testified that Gray failed to properly perform work with regard to Component A work for compaction of ditches, thus preventing Ragland from traveling across the ditches with delivery trucks with material. [T. 205]. Further, Ragland testified that Gray did not place the dirt to grade along the railroad track at a necessary elevation which caused Ragland extra work efforts. [T. 206]. Ragland testified about another subcontractor of Gray placing a water line in Ragland's way just a few days before Ragland was set to begin work on that particular area which caused Ragland to encounter extra work efforts. [T. 213].

In addition to testimony concerning Gray's actions and/or inactions causing extra work

and problems for Ragland for the Project, Ragland also testified as to certain acts of misfeasance

by Gray with regard to financial matters related to the Project. First, Ragland testified as to Gray

wrongfully withholding money due him after pay requests submitted to TRA were paid to Gray.

[T. 239]. Other testimony by Ragland concerning acts of impropriety by Gray concerned back

charges for equipment owned by Ragland used on the Project, withholdings for worker's

compensation insurance, withholdings for taxes and other payroll issues. [T. 247]. Next,

Ragland testified that toward the end of the Project TRA insisted that Gray demonstrate that it

had paid its subcontractors including Ragland and that Gray called Ragland and asked him to

write a letter indicating that he had been paid when in fact, he had not. [T. 260]. Ragland also

testified as to Gray improperly profiting from 320 cubic yards of sand with respect to the Project.

[T. 268].

On December 16, 2002, a Partial Release and Settlement Agreement was entered into by

and between TRA and Gray settling all claims except to the extent set forth in the March 1, 2002

claim letter. [R. 573 – 575; RE 9].

After allowing Gray to sponsor a claim on Ragland's behalf in the March 1, 2002 claim

letter for \$458,178, Ragland then retained his own counsel resulting in his intervening in this

case as a party Plaintiff.⁶ From March 1, 2002 to the time of trial, Ragland's claim incrementally

increased from \$458,178.00 to \$1,339,658.63. [See R. 139-145; R. 1116-1132]. Ragland's

explanation for the increase was that "we went back and re-valued it after we were finally able to

secure all the records." [T. 196]. Gray representative, Shawn Gray, testified that even though

⁶ Initially, Gray and its surety, The Hartford Fire and Insurance Company, were sued by WG Construction, Inc. (another sub-contractor for the Tupelo Fairgrounds Project) alleging that Gray failed to pay WG Construction, Inc. \$110,739.95 for materials provided to the project. [R. 20 – 23; RE 6].

⁷ A component of Ragland's \$1,339,658.63 claim was his assertion that he had to dig his trenches to an average depth of ten feet which he claims caused him to incur damages of \$500,000. [T. 432]. Interestingly, this claim for a

TRA issued three Change Orders, "time and time again we were promised a final Change Order." [T. 587]. Shawn Gray further testified "We was directed to go to work. Yeah, promised a Change Order, promised a Change Order, go. We took that on faith." [T. 588]. However, after the execution of Change Order No. 1 on March 2, 2001 through the March 1, 2002 claim letter, there is no other documentation in the Project files representing that an additional Change Order would be sought or granted with respect to Component C electrical work.⁸

Gray bases the alleged promise of a final Change Order on language in a July 10, 2001 correspondence from Steve Brister to Shawn Gray wherein it states:

Note. A Change Order for the time extension will not be issued. A final Change Order will be issued to reconcile all units for work in place. The extension of time will be a part of the final Change Order. [R. 1027; RE 10; Exhibit DG-62] [Emphasis added].

Shawn Gray admitted in his trial testimony that the terms of the July 10, 2001 letter regarding the final Change Order were limited to reconciling all units for work in place. [T. 598].

Brister testified regarding what is understood in the industry about a final Change Order being issued to reconcile all units for work in place by stating:

Once the contract is complete and all - - or all the components of the work are installed and finished, then I would have written a Change Order to reconcile the amount that was billed as agreed to by the owner and the engineer to basically balance the checkbook in order - - for example, as I said earlier, the example of the painter, if Mr. Ragland installed 250 units at \$10 per unit, but in actuality the bid sheet or the bid contract or his actual contract had

half million dollars regarding having to dig trenches to an extra depth was nowhere mentioned in Ragland's own fifteen page claim narrative he drafted on January 31, 2002. [T. 432]. The January 31, 2002 claim narrative written by Ragland was done when matters were fresh on his mind and he had a full appreciation of all the work he had done for the Project. [T. 470].

⁸ Gray and Ragland were invited to attend and participate in the biweekly Project meetings conducted by Brister wherein items were addressed concerning each activity for the Project. [T. 948-950]. Brister testified that if a matter was discussed in a meeting then it would have been reflected in his Project meeting minutes. [T. 982].

300 units in it, then I would have issued him a deductive Change Order for that amount.

On the flip side, if he installed 50 units more than what the contract called for, then we would have issued him an additive Change Order. Nothing more, nothing less.⁹ [T. 968].

Brister testified that in all of his work experience he had never given an open-ended Change Order promise to a contractor. [T. 967]. He explained that he had no authority to direct or approve any such Change Orders without TRA's endorsement as TRA is a public entity requiring approval of all changes by a majority vote and that everyone involved with the project understood that fact. [T. 967]. In fact, Brister testified that he had a July 2001 meeting with Shawn Gray and Carson Neal from Cook Coggin Engineers, Inc. wherein Shawn Gray agreed with the fact that Change Order No. 1 covered all problems with Component C electrical portion of the project. [T. 971].¹⁰

Brister testified that paragraph 10.3 of the General Conditions of the contract between TRA and Gray which provides that "additional work" performed by the contractor without authorization of a Change Order would not entitle him to an increase in the contract price is a standard contract provision.¹¹ [T. 957]. Further, Brister testified that "the purpose of such a contract provision is to guard the owner or protect the owner from frivolous or unnecessary Change Order requests from the contractor and to give the owner the opportunity to deal with

⁹ Brister testified that following Change Order No. 1, he received no correspondence from either Gray or Ragland requesting another Change Order for Component C electrical work. [T. 965, 966].

¹⁰ This agreement was confirmed by a July 11, 2001 correspondence from Brister to Carson Neal and Shawn Gray. [T. 600 – 601; RE 17; Exhibit P-86].

¹¹ The "General Conditions" of the contract between TRA and Gray delineate the contractual provisions for changes in the work of the Project which provide, in pertinent part:

10.3 Additional work performed by the contractor without authorization of a Change Order will not entitle him to an increase in the contract price or an extension of the contract time, except in the case of an emergency as provided in paragraph 6.25. [R. 657; RE 11; Exhibit P-1].

Shawn Gray admitted that there were no emergencies on this Project as contemplated under paragraph 6.25. [T. 585].

that change, whatever that change may be, and to provide a vehicle for complete knowledge of all participants in the contract and the owner of the contract or any other entities that would be affected by that change.” [T. 957, 958].

Additionally, Carson Neal with Cook Coggin Engineers as the engineer for Components A and B of the Project testified concerning **final Change Orders** stating they are for “[m]inor changes in quantities, because anything significant is supposed to be handled during the job with the owner. You know, you don’t just do a whole bunch of work and expect to be paid for it on the tail end.”¹² [T. 871] [Emphasis added].

Shawn Gray testified that “on 3 occasions we did get issued Change Order, but we never got the final Change Order.” [T. 588]. However, a January 17, 2002 letter from Gray Corporation to Carson Neal drafted during the latter stages of the Project’s life and just over a month before the March 1, 2002 claim letter reads, in pertinent part:

Owner requested a change in this item of work during the course of the project, and you stated changes to this work would require a Change Order...now the owner is attempting to have work done that it previously admitted would constitute a change in Gray’s scope of work. Therefore, **Gray is not willing to perform the work defined by item No. 8 without a Change Order.**¹³ [T. 767; RE 12; Exhibit P-115] [Emphasis added].

Renee Gray, the President of Gray Corporation who authored the above mentioned January 17, 2002 letter, admitted that from the beginning of the Project to the end of the project she was aware that there were Change Order requirements in the contract between TRA and

¹² The customary final Change Order for units of work in place was not issued for this Project due to the preemptive measure of litigation initiated by Gray. As explained by Carson Neal, “A claim was filed by Gray Corporation against TRA on this project. And once that claim was filed, of course, it became - - it was turned over in the hands of the attorneys. Therefore the job was not finished - - as normally a job is finished, when a contractor finishes to substantial completion, there is a preliminary walk through to see what he lacks. After all this is done, then you have a final inspection where you look at the job and you make sure everything is completed in conformance with the plans and specs. Then when it’s accepted, you release his retainage and do a summary Change Order. In this case, the claim was filed. Therefore, the job did not end as a normal job would.” [T. 839].

¹³ Shawn Gray testified that Gray was substantially completed with the project in December 2001. [T. 591].

Gray. [T. 768]. Further, Shawn Gray admitted that both he and Gray Corporation's President, Renee Gray, knew how to request a Change Order under Gray's contract with TRA. [T. 595].

Shawn Gray also admitted that Gray, as the prime contractor for the Project, was responsible for directly communicating with the owner regarding claims of its subcontractors: "Being the general or the prime contractor, it's the responsibility of the general or prime contractor. Any claims resolving - - revolving of the project, that arises out of the project, it's the duty of the prime contractor for the subcontractor to prepare its claim and, in return, we take that claim and pass it straight on through to the owner." [T. 546]. Shawn Gray admitted reading the contractual provision at the time he bid on the contract for the subject Project which states that additional work performed by the contractor without authorization of a Change Order will not entitle him to an increase of the contract price or an extension of time. [T. 585].

Part of Gray's claim against TRA is for delay damages in the amount of \$158,757.31. [T. 559]. This amount is derived from a claimed 89 days worth of alleged delay associated with problems from the Component C work as described in the March 1, 2002 claim letter. [R. 139 - 145; RE 8; Exhibit P-19]. The 89 days which Gray allegedly claimed they were delayed are within the time period of December 6, 2000 through April 5, 2001. [T. 590]. Thus, a majority of the claimed 89 days worth of alleged delay occurred prior to Change Orders No. 1 and 2, which were both dated March 2, 2001. [T. 590, 591]. Change Orders No. 1 and 2 both executed by Gray Corporation President Renee Gray state plainly on their face that: "It is further understood and agreed that this modification constitutes compensation in full on behalf of the contractor and its subcontractors and suppliers for all costs and mark-ups directly or indirectly attributable to the Change Order herein, **for all delays related thereto**, and for performance of the changes within the time frame stated." [R. 819, 828; RE 7; Exhibits P-6, P-7] [Emphasis added]. Shawn Gray

admitted that Gray did not ask TRA for any delay damages before the execution of either Change Order No. 1 or 2. [T. 591].

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