(Circinon-

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

TUPELO REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2006-15-00218

THE GRAY CORPORATION, INC.

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

V.

RONALD J. RAGLAND, SR. d/b/a RAGLAND ENGINEERING, AND RAGLAND CONSTRUCTION **FILED**

CROSS-APPELLEE

OCT 31 2006

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

DODULCUT
BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

B. SEAN AKINS MSB NO. ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT
THE GRAY CORPORATION, INC.

FORTIER & AKINS, P.A. ATTORNEYS AT LAW 108 JEFFERSON STREET RIPLEY, MISSISSIPPI 38663 (662) 837-9976

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

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

This award was not barred by the change order clause in the contract between TRA and Gray. Under Mississippi law, an owner may waive a contract requirement by its performance or by its words. At trial, Gray introduced evidence demonstrating that TRA ignored the change order clause throughout the course of construction. TRA's pattern of performance throughout the job was to direct Gray to do work before a change order was issued not after. In effect, TRA said to Gray, do the work, then we will settle up.

Ronnie Gray and Gray's subcontractor, in a rare example of agreement, testified that TRA's agents directed them to do extra work and promised that a final change order would be issued and that they relied on this promise because that is what the pattern of practice was on this job. Gray 's

evidence was sufficient to make out a prima facie case of waiver. TRA disputed this testimony, but such disputes are for the jury to decide. The trail Court submitted the issue of waiver to the jury which resolved it in Gray's favor. There is no basis for setting that verdict aside.

The award to Gray is also not barred by TRA's status as a government entity. *Miss. Code Ann.* § 31-7-13 does not bar the claim because the work for which Gray was compensated was authorized, reasonable and necessary. Contrary to the implications in TRA's Brief, the doctrine of waiver applies to government contracts as well as to private contracts when there is evidence that the public owner did not follow the contract or directed the contractor to proceed subject to a later claim for a change order.

In that regard, this Court has recognized that no-damage-for-delay clauses in public contracts are to be strictly construed and will not be enforced when any of four exceptions apply. Gray introduced evidence at trial that the delay encountered by Gray due to TRA's defective plans were not contemplated by the parties and fell within other exceptions as well. TRA disputed this evidence, but such disputes are for the jury to decide and the trial court submitted the issue of whether Gray's delays fell within the exceptions. The jury found in Gray's favor and there is no basis for setting their verdict aside.

Gray was also entitled to a jury instruction on implied indemnity for any sums owed Ragland as a result TRA's wrongdoing. The Court's instruction excluded an award of indemnity for any active negligence by Ragland. As set forth below, Gray believes the jury did not follow the instruction and that an addittur should be awarded.

Gray's Appeal of the Award to Ragland:

The trial court found and Ragland admitted it entered into a subcontract agreement with Gray and that the parties agreed on the prices for Ragland's work. Ragland sued Gray to recover under that contract, but instead of basing its claim on excess contract costs, it submitted evidence based

on a quantum meruit. Under Mississippi law, a contractor cannot recover damages under a quantum meruit theory when he has a contract spelling out the price for his work. Accordingly, Ragland's damage claim failed as a matter of law and the trial court should have granted Gray judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

Ragland also failed to offer evidence sufficient to make out a prima facie case on the quantum meruit damages claimed. No documentation was provided of Ragland's actual costs because Ragland decided it was 'too much trouble" to keep up with what costs he was incurring. The only proof of damages offered was Ragland's testimony about what he would have quoted the job for had he known what he knows now. In support of that evidence, Ragland did not rely on proof of what he has charged and received in the pat or even industry norms. All he offered was ipsi dixit—just "because he said so." This testimony is insufficient as a matter of law to make out a prima facie case. Accordingly, the trial court should have Gray judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

Alternatively, the trial court should have granted a new trial or a *remittitur* because the jury's award to Ragland was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and reflected bias and prejudice.

Gray's Cross Appeal for Additur:

No evidence was presented at trial to explain the vast discrepancy in the amount of the judgment awarded against Gray and the amount awarded against TRA. The damages were never allocated by Ragland between Gray and TRA. Ragland testified throughout the trial that the damages incurred were attributable to the acts and omissions of TRA and its agents. Therefore, the trial court erred in not allowing an *additur* to Gray's judgment against TRA.

ARGUMENT

I. THE VERDICT AGAINST TRA SHOULD BE SUSTAINED.

A. The issue of waiver was appropriately submitted to the jury.

The trial court instructed the jury to return a verdict against TRA only if the jury found that TRA had by conduct or words waived the change order requirement of the contract. (T.1227-29).

The Court's instruction properly stated Mississippi law. Throughout the performance of the contract, TRA ignored the change order requirement and promised Gray that it would receive a change order at the end of the job. TRA's conduct and words induced Gray and its subcontractor Ragland to continue performance.

That contract requirements can be waived by conduct or orally is a well established rule of law in Mississippi. As this Court pointed out in *Canizaro v. Mobile Communications Corp. of Am.* 655 So. 2d 25 (Miss. 1995): "[A] party to a contract may by words or conductwaive a right to which he would otherwise have been entitled." *Id.* at 29. ² Similarly, in *City of Mound Bayou v. Roy Collins Constr. Co., Inc.*, 499 So. 2d 1354 (Miss. 1986) when a representative of a City ordered the contractor to perform additional work, then tried to invoke a change order clause to bar recovery for the work, the Court "recognized that there are circumstances in which a contractor should recover for additional work, even where the contract requires a change to be executed in writing." *Id.* at 1358. The Court determined that a contractor is entitled to recover when its "work was orally ordered, requested, directed, authorized or consented by the owner or his duly authorized agent." *Id.* at 1358-1359 (citing 2 A.L.R.3rd 620, 661 (1965)).

After hearing the testimony of the witnesses, the trial judge correctly concluded that there was adequate evidence TRA had abandoned the formalities of the Contract by its course of conduct during performance and by its promises of a final change order to submit the issue of waiver to the

² See also Crosby-Mississippi Res., Ltd. v. Florida Gas Transmission, 815 F.Supp. 977 (S.D. 1993) (modification of price term by course of conduct); Canizaro v Mobile Communications Corp of America, 655 So.2d 25 (miss. 1995) (waiver by conduct).

jury. Just as in *Canizaro*, the actions of TRA during Gray's performance were sufficient to constitute a waiver of the change order requirement. In the interest of expediency and efficiency, TRA and its representatives directed Gray to perform any additional work and a change order would be issued at the appropriate time. As Ronnie Gray testified:

[T]he project manager for this project, Jesco, directed us in time of essence, in time of essence. You proceed with this work, we'll get a change order. Yes, the change order will come. . . . These were discussions that were several times a week. So, hey, they told us to proceed with the work. We did. Change order will follow. Yes, it did on three occasions, but it didn't on the final occasions. So we took that, we was directed to go to work. Yeah, promised change order, promised change order, go. We took that on faith.

(T. at 587-25 to 588-11.)

Mr. Ragland also testified a final change order was promised. Most importantly, Messrs.

Ragland and Gray had reason to believe these promises because that is how three other change orders were issued—work first, change order later.

Of significance, paragraph 10 of the contract places the burden squarely upon TRA to issue any written change orders for the Project. There is no obligation on the part of Gray to give written notice that a change order is required. TRA's representatives were in the field observing Gray and Ragland's performance and were fully aware of the extra work necessary to complete the Contract to the satisfaction of TRA. These inspectors were the "eyes and ears" of TRA at the project site. It is, therefore, disingenuous for TRA to claim it was unaware that both Gray and Ragland were incurring additional cost for which TRA was obligated to provide an equitable adjustment. Succinctly stated, based upon TRA's course of conduct, it was reasonable for Gray to rely upon TRA's direction to proceed with the extra work and the representation that TRA would issue a change order at the conclusion of the Project. (Exhibit P-18: January 5; RE 18.)

Further justification for Gray's entitlement to damages against TRA is that the parties recognized the plans prepared by Allen & Hoshall for TRA and furnished to Gray were defective

and had to be redesigned. (T. at 104-25 to 1051-10.) This created unanticipated delays for Gray and its subcontractor. The corrected plans required more labor, material and equipment to perform than initially calculated thereby increasing Gray's performance cost. TRA knew the error and/or omissions in the plans constituted a change for which Gray was entitled to an equitable adjustment. JESCO's meeting minutes reflect that changes were being made to correct the plans. (Trial Exhibit P-18: December 6, January 5, and March 21; RE 19.) JESCO directed Gray to proceed with the changes with TRA's knowledge and consent. (T. at 527-11 to 529-27.)

Gray was assured during several instances that a change order would be coming such as in the meeting notes of December 6, 2000, January 3, 2001, and January 22, 2001. (Trial Exhibits P-18; T. at 518-20 to 530-7; RE 19 and 23.) The meeting notes from January 5, 2001 reflect that JESCO authorized Gray "[i]n the interest of time" to "proceed with the changes outlined in these minutes" because the change order would later be issued after approval by TRA. (Trial Exhibit P-18 and T. at 527-19 to 529-2; RE 19.) Change Order No. 1 was not issued by TRA until February 27, 2001. (Trial Exhibit D-7I; T. at 534-27 to 535-21.) This is consistent with how TRA handled Change Order Nos. 2 and 3. Therefore, Gray was operating under the belief that a final change order was going to be issued upon completion of the Project and it would compensate be paid for the additional work. (T. at 529-20 to 530-7.)

TRA also abandoned the Contract by not complying with Paragraph 12 regarding time extensions. (Trial Exhibit P-1; T. at 674-21 to 675-24 and 1056; RE 5.) Gray made repeated requests for time extensions in compliance with Paragraph 12, but TRA never issued a change order granting the requested extension because TRA told Gray the extensions would be taken care of in a final change order. (T. at 675 and 1055 to 1056.) TRA allowed Gray time extensions, but payment for the extensions was never given because the extensions were not part of a change order as required by the Contract.

TRA argues in its brief that the testimony of its witnesses and certain correspondence that the only change order promised was a change order to adjust final quantities. There testimony is directly contradicted by the testimony of Messrs. Gray and Ragland. This swearing match was submitted to the jury and the jury resolved it in Gray's favor. The standard of review is clear. The evidence must be construed in the light most favorable to Gray and Gray must be given the benefit of all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the evidence. Only if reasonable jurors could not have credited the testimony of Ragland and Gray and the evidence that TRA ignored the change order requirement can the juries verdict be set aside. See *Cousar v. State*, 855 So.2d 993, 998 (Miss. 2003); *Entergy Mississippi, Inc. v Bolden*, 854 So.2d 1051, 1055 (Miss. 2003); *Shelton v State*, 853 So.2d 1171 (Miss. 2003). The jury's verdict is supported by substantial evidence and should not be overturned.

The jury's decision is consistent with applicable law. Other contractors have also been the victim of broken promises by owners. In Eastline Corp. v. Marion Apartments, 524 So. 2d 582 (Miss. 1988) the contractor entered into a contract to build apartments with a "changes in work" clause requiring an approval for any changes causing an increase or decrease in the amount due on the contract. No charge for extra work was to be allowed without the approval of the representative. Id. at 583. The construction project deadline was extended at least twice due to several delays. Id. The plans and surveys provided by the owner did not conform to the actual site or meet the required standards which created many problems. Id. The contractor incurred additional expense to correct the unanticipated construction problems. Id. at 584. The owner, like the TRA, refused to pay because the contractor did not comply with the "changes in work" clause. Id. Much like Gray, the additional work was performed before the change orders were obtained because the contractor was pressured to avoid any further delay by processing the change order request. Id. The lower court refused to grant the contractor any relief for the extra work notwithstanding the oral representation

that it would be paid because the contract required a written change order prior to performing the extra work. The Mississippi Supreme Court reversed and remanded. The Mississippi Supreme Court found that the written contract had been orally modified when the owner asked the contractor to perform additional work without an official written change order as required by the contract.

Much like Gray, the contractor in *Eastline* was asked to perform the work without the change order to avoid any further delay in the project. *Id.* at 584. The contractor performed under the instructions: "Get the project done. Get it done. We'll take care of it later." *Id.* Mr. Gray testified that this same promise had been made by JESCO's project manager who reminded Mr. Gray that time was of essence, to proceed with the extra work and a change order would be forthcoming. (T. at 587-25 to 588-11.) Steve Brister, the project manager working for JESCO testified that a change order took a great amount of time and effort to have TRA approve the changes. TRA could take up to two weeks to gather all the agency members together, vote on it, and then issue a change order. (T. at 973.) The trial judge concluded, just as the *Eastline* Court that Gray had acted in good faith by proceeding with the extra work without securing the required change orders. *Id.* at 585.

Gray provided additional work on the Project to meet the changes made to the plans by TRA. This additional work was requested by TRA with the understanding that Gray would be compensated in the final change order. Steve Brister expressed to Gray and to Carson Neal of Cook Coggins that the time extension for electrical work changes not covered in the prior change orders did not need a separate change order because the changes would be consolidated in the final change order. (T. at 542-11 to 544-20; Trial Exhibit DG-65; RE 26.)

The additional work was needed because the plans designed by Allen & Hoshall were initially defective. Carson Neal and Steve Brister both testified that TRA was aware changes had to be made to Component C because there were problems with the drawings. (T. at 872-29 to 873-13 and 1048-12 to 1051-10.) TRA is the party responsible for not performing its contractual

obligations in good faith by not ensuring the plans for the Project were workable and for not latter making the agreed change order. Just as Thomas Barnes for TRA testified, TRA was responsible for its agents ensuring that the plans and specifications for the Project were coordinated so that the plans were workable. (T. at 935-15 to 936-26.) Steve Brister testified that JESCO and Cook Coggins were unable to review all the plans and specifications to coordinate all phases of the project because Allen & Hoshall did not have Component C plans ready in time. (T. at 1047-25 to 1048-11.) By this conduct, TRA breached its implied duty of good faith and fair dealing under Paragraph 16.3 of the Project contract. (Exhibit P-1; RE 6.)

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